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THE DEVELOPMENT OF DEVON’S ROAD SYSTEM

AL Brian George

Roman Roads

Ivan D. Margary in his book Bemean foads in dritain has given the detailed evi-
denee of how two main utes eplered Devan, one from the north and one (rom the
east, They appear to have erossed at. Axminster and just south of Axminster, The Fogse
Way came from Lincoln and Bath via Uehester and s considered to have commenced
at a port at Axmouth. From Lomdon and Dorchester to Charmouth bwo routes, one via
Honilon and the obher via Sidlord led to Exeter, wheve there was a substantial Roman
garvison. The mudstone soft rock undevlying the river Exe enabled i to e forded at
low fAlows and the high ground ol the city made it an ideal defensive position against
attack from the waost,

Nevertheloss there was a voute acress Haldon FIHE via Ugbrooke (o Teigobriege
where during the construction of James Green’s 1816 bridpe succossive structures
were bund o Lhe geound beneath. Anolther route has been located at Cotebroake in
mid-Devon, whenee it appears lo have divided, one route through Bow to Okchampron
and Lilton and the ather following the high ground between Roborough and High
Backington. towards Bideford and Barnstaple. Roman voads were built duving an
veeupation of some Hlvears and wore generally straight over long distances but var-
fed their alignment Lo suil local topography as required where gradiends had to
vespond to their lorm of teaflic, The carviagewny foundation, or ‘agger’ varied in thick-
ness v was very substantial so thal the line of the route aeross agrieubtural land
wan sometimes still be vigible on acrial phetographs,

The Dark Age

When the Romans left in AD 410 Devon might have had a road network of 50 miles
of paved road and 700 miles of trackway, By the ninth century Devon was reengnised
as a Saxon shire and with settlements recognised by -tan, -ham and -hury weuld have
developed a new local network of reutes with coertain bridges such as Creedy hridge,
Bickham bridge and Kingshridge being mentioned o Saxon charlers,

The Middle Ages

The middle of the twellth century saw a change begin thal would have o lasting
effect on the landscape of Dovon, The Saxen open-field system was mainly abandoned
and areas of land were let off by the lovds of the maner to he farmed by peasants (Exo
bridge was commencad in abaul 11800 Fields were enelosed and tracks were diverted
around theas [ndividuals traveled on foot or by horseback and goods were moved
targely by packhorse. There were the Roval roads on which travellers wore unilor the
soverelen's pratection and they were termed the King's Highway, Al olwer roads were
termed the Common Highway and the state made no provision for maintniung them.
There had grown ap the common-law prineiple that the landowner was responsible
for the upkeep of roads abutting his land. Devon's deep lanes were formed as o resuit
of this system of maintenance, landowners would serape mud off their surfaces and
Lhrow it pncto the verges and as time went by the road became lower and lower

Alter the Reformation the fivst picce of legislation that dealt with roads was the
Statule ol Highways 15556 which made each pavish responsible [or all vaads passing
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through ils area, except the 100 yards cach side of a county bridge. Bach year the
churchwardens in every parish were required to appoint an overseer of highways trom
amung the pacishioners. The post was unpaid and labour for repair wus provided by
each of the parishioners, alss an an unpaid basis, who were required to work lor foar,
later six, days of the year. This hecame known as statule labour In 1662 Lhe survey-
ors were empowered to levy o rate to supplement stalule labour During this inefli-
cienl form of road adnunistration wheeled traffie was inereasing in volume. The unde-
niable relationship between wheel loading and read condilion asserled itsell in gov-
ernment legislation. [n an Act of 1621 Pavlisment attempted to minimize wear and
tear on the roads by restricting the efficiency of roud vehicles. The use of four wheeled
vehicles or loads exceeding one ton was prohibited. In 162Y v more than live horses
per wagon were peormitled and in 1862 the permitted number per wagon was
inereased ta saven b the width of wagon wheels was specified to he a minimum of
four inches, Later the width of wagon wheels was inercased te o minimurn of nine
inches with o penalty of contravention of £5 or one month in prizon.

Not all legislation was unhelplul Lo the road user as o lute seventeenth cenlury Act
requived parish surviyors to st up al eross-toads o stone or timbee post insevibed
with the nome of Lhe next town to which the road led. In this county there is the brick
grosg at the meeting of the Newlon Poppleford to Budleigh Salterton with the
Otterton road to Woodbury, ]

The Ogilby maps of 1675

These strip maps produced in Britunnio in 1675 by John Ogithy werve the lirst to
show Lhe measured mile of 1760 yards Gntrodieed by Act of Parliament in 1593) to a
seale aFone inch to one mile, and showed the positian of cach mileage point, They were
compiled using a large wheel on which was mounted o tape ten miles long. Examples
of these maps have heen available (romn the Devon Record Oflice and the strips have
nith paints assecialed to each part of the way, Thus we cun trace the route from
Exeter to Bridport Uwough St Mary Clyst, Sidlord and Cullylord where at 22 miles
we crogs the river Axe and its lributary before reaching Limoe at 28 miles,

Other routes in Devon were as follows:-

L. Crewkerne to Plymoeath via Axminster, Homton, Exeter and Buckfstleigh,

2. Plymouth (o Dartmouth via Modbury and Halwill.

3. Bridgwater te Launceston via Dulverton, S8cuth Mollen, Barnstaple, Torringlon,
Hatherleigh and FHalwill tlanetion

4. Exeter to Frove via Dunsford, Chagford, Posthridge, Tavistock and Gunnistake,

5. Bristol tn Exeter via Wells, Taunton, Whitebalt, Cullompton and Kilterton.

6. Dartmouth to Minehead via Chursiou, Abhotskerswell, Teignbridge, Exeter,

Sibverton, Tiverton, Bampton, Morebulh and Bury
7. Fxeler to Hfracombe via Crediton, Murchard Bishop, Chulmleigh, Chittlehamypton,

Barnstaple and between West Down and Bittaden,

As canching traffic was introduced the appalling eondition of the roads became an
mereasing handieap, and in the eighteenth century the need for their deainage and
the use of broken stone for thelr surfaces was generally realised. o the Hghlands of
Seotland, Geneval Wade showerd how this could be done, beginning i 1726, and thiy
led to Telford and Macadam developing their individual methods and extending their
expertise to Devon,

The Turnpike Raoads

It took privale enterprise to solve the maintenance problem and the fivst turnpike
trust was formed in Buckinghamshive in 1706, The Excler Turnpike Trust was femaed
e 1753, All the main roads leading out of and areund Excter were included and with
150 miles were the highest trust mileage in Dovon add one of the highest in the coun-
try. The Barnstaple Trust, formed in 1760 had 104 mites of road and the Tiverton
Trust of 1757 had 73 miles of voad. Cthers brought the total mileage of turnpike roud
in Devon Lo 1070, The extent of Devon's voads al the time the turapike trusts woere
eatahlished is beautifully illusteated by Benjamin Donw’s Map of the County of Decon
published in 1765 and reprinted i [aesimide by the Devon and Cornwall Record
Saciely and the Universily of Excter in 1985,

The Lrusts appointed swrveyors to organise lheir work. The laler lurnpike Acts
regquired the trustees to measure their roads and Lo erect stones ar wouden posts to
give mileages to towns at one mile intervals, [n Doven the nevd for new coud building
beeame apparctt towwards the end of the eighleenth cendury, Perhnps the fest of Lhese
was o vond to shovt-cut Lhe distance from Crewkerne to FHoniton pvoiding Axininsler
and this was bt using existing roads through Chard and Stockland in 1786, While
shorter, this route cmpbasised the problems for coaching trallic of steep gradients.
Another new routbe built before the tum of the cenlury was that {rom New Bridge,
Hobne, past Dartmect to ' Pwo Bridpes. This avoided Holne and kept to the norlh of the
West Dart river until it joined the voad from Moretonhwnpstead to Two Bridges. Yot
angther early scheme was the crossing of the River Exe al Countess Wear, The road
system at the turn of the century is best shown by the ariginal Old Series Ordnance
Survey Maps, those for Devon being first published in 1809, and republished in 1977
hy Harry Margary at Lympne Castle in ent.,

A new roaed info Devon was buill by the Honiton and Hminster Turnpike Trust in
1808 [0 May IBOT a notice appeared in the Sherborne and Yeordl Mercury asking for
i contractor Loy a road from Yard in Devon to Horten Cross in Somerset, The adver-
tUsement was signed by C. Flood, the Clerk and Treasurer. Willinm Bond was the
Surveyor There do nol appear to be any surviving minutes of this teasl except those
in Lhe SRO dating from aboul 18356, This road not only provided the shortest raute to
London {rom Exeter, bul was cuvelully graded to suitable inclines for coach teadlie. [L
provided a junction lor the revised rowte from Chard of 1827 through Yarcombe to
Devonsghire Inn. ’

The problems of the seventeenth contury were narrow width, very steep inelines (51
in 73, unnecessary undulabion and altitude and alse excessive volling resistanee due
to bad surfaces. These were gradually vedieed and new roads such as the Exeter to
Cullomplon of 1815, the Excter to Tedburn St Mary of 1824 and the Crediton to
Bammstaple of 1830 introduced ruling gradients of 1 in 15 to 1 in 16, They also cul
down on the ununecessary asconts and descents such as Whitestone hill on the
Okehampton road, This great surge of new work was hraought to an end by the advent
ol the railway to FExeter in 1844, Theveafter some ol the turnpike trusts found it dif-
ficult to maintain a satistactory income. Excter (o Cullomptlon was in particular diffi-
culty, but the Exeter Trust did well. However the abgnment and foundations for our
futwre classified roads had been eslablished and seowred. The detailed changes over
this peried can be aceuralely examined be eomparing the Old Series Ordnance Survey
maps with the reprinted first edition of about 1890 published by David and Charles
in 1969,



The County and District Councils

If the turnpike roads had advanced the condition of the main roads in Devon, the
minvr roads had also to be considered and the Highways Act 1835 regularised the
election by the inhabitants of each parish of a highway surveyor. At Epiphany
Sessiony 1863, the Devon Court of Quarter Sessions, acting under an 1862 enactment,
arganised the county, excluding the urban areas, into 26 districts, each having no
more than 300 miles of road and one or two waywardens in each parish. An Act of
864 permitted parishes to borrow money for the huilding of roads.

Under the Local Government Act 1888, responsibility for the police, of weights and
measures and for county bridges and their approaches, passed from the magistrates
to the new county councils and roads designated main roads became county roads.
The eounty councils were formed at a time of great change in the use of roads. The
steam traction engine had appeared to assist in local heavy haulage and the heavy
axle and wheel weights had a profound effect on roads and weak bridges. By 1895
bicycles were in common use in towns and eyclists looked for smoother roads. Then by
1904 there were 17,810 motor vehicles of all classes licensed, which doubled in the fol-
lowing year and were 45,026 in 1906,

Whereas an iron-tyred wheel tended to consolidate a surface a pneumatic tyre tend-
ed to tear it to picces, partly by suetion and partly by the driving effect and the
increase in speed. In 1906 & Royal Commission was appointed to report on dust pre-
vention. This was solved by the application of a bituminous binder and by 1908 some
1269 miles of road in England had been tarred. In the last 90 years the efficient use
of tar or bitumen to bind road surfaves has become a scienee leading to the develop-
ment of British Standards, but oceasional lapses in apphication can cause widespread
distress.

National Finance

In 1909 the Government established the Roads Board, which drvew its revenue from
vehicle licence fees and petrel tox. Under the Roands Act 1920 grants were payable
from Lhe Roads fund for the maintenanee of main roads only; but it suen became cvi-
dent that in the maintenance of minor roads alse, local ratepayers would have to he
given assistance and in 1025 grants of 50 per cent were payable for class [ roads and
25 per cent for class 11 roads. The passing of the Trunk Reads Act of 1936 meant that
the Ministry of Transport became directly responsible for the administration of 4460
miles of main road nationally, about 95 miles in Devon. {n 1946 a further Trunk Road
Act added in Pevon annther 120 miles. Trunk road maintenance was delegated to the
County Couneil and the eost ol this was borne by the Ministry of Transport. By this
time grants for authorised improvernents to the county roads were T5% for cluss 1
roads, 80% for class 11 roads and 5% for 1 new group of class [ roads.

Road Improvements and Maintenance in the T'wentieth Century

The existence of n lavge direct labour organisation for the maintenance and
improvement ol roads between the wars meant thal national grants for work on trunk
and classified roads brought lavge sums of maney directly into the eounty, paying the
wages of county labour and the cost of loeal supplies fram quarries and elsewhere.
Belween the wars Devon County Couneil had many quarries in various parts of the
county. Some contract work was done. ‘The [xeter by-pass, designed by the Southern
County Surveyer Andrew Warren, completed just before the second war, was carried
out by contract, bypasses to Buckfastleigh and Ashburton also were huilt to velieve
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unemployment. The science of road-building developed rapidly, transition curves were
introduced for fast roads and the County Surveyor's Suvciety propused a national
motorway plan in 1938. The road changes between the wars were shown by the
Ovdnance Survey when they published o Sixth, or New Popular Edition in 1946, at a
seale of ane inch to one mile and these were the first maps to incorporate a National
Grid for position reference.

After the war the county’s guarries were gradually climinated and the labour of the
fourteen divisional surveyors was reduced as mechanical facilities were improved.
Nothing was done by eontract until Honiton by-pass was begrun in 1964, followed by
Cullompton by-pass on the route of the future motorway M5, Meanwhile the firvst
rural dual-carriageways were built by direct labour in 1959; near [ron bridge on the
trunk road from Foniton te Exeter and an the county class [ road from Barnstaple
towards Braunton. Long lengths of road were improved by direct lahour on the holi-
day routes across Devon and alse to eliminate difficult diverted sections of road that
had been built as a result of the priovity given to railway line alignment in Devon,
However, by 1970 county raad improvement by direct labour was run down as nation-
al funds were more and more diverted ta trunk raads and to large contracts for coun-
ty road improvements.

The concentration of national funds on trunk read improvement was maximised
with the farmution of the Road Construction Units by the Ministey of Transport in
1968. One of six units, the South Western RCU had its headguanters in Taunton but
in cg-nperation with the County Council, ene of three sub-units was based in Exeter
to progress construction in Devon and Cernwall, The County Surveyor was Chief
Engineer of the unit and 80 per cent of the staff of about 105 people were county coun-
¢il staff whose salaries were reimbursed by Government, the rest heing civil servants.
During the next fifteen yoars the unit designed and supervised contracts for dual car-
riageway roads from Exeter to Plymouth, from Exeter Lo Launteston and the
Launceston and Bodmin by-passes.

Consultants were appointed to bring the motorway M5 to Exeter and in recent
years the Highways Agency, as the government department is now called, has taken
responsibility for trunk read maintenance from the County Council to place it with
their contractors and the design and supervision of trunk road improvements from
the Counly Couneil to place that with consultants. At present only a small amount of
grant money is being provided te assist with the maintenance of county classified
roads and improvements are rare indeed as county and government money is con-
centrated on other things. The extent of the new highways built towards the end of
the century can be seen by comparing the 1946 maps with the Landranger G.5. maps
to seale /50,000 published in 1999/2000.

SBince the second war the size and overall weight of road wvehicles has steadily
increased with articulated lorries weighing 40 tons now having six axles and the occa-
sional electricity transformer on a special trailer weighing 180 tons or more being
drawn by heavy tractors, Roads arve generally of broken stone and bituminous con-
struction and surfaces have steadily improved, and when properly maintained, are
now exceptionally plane. The congrete road has shown great durability but a recent
example from Exeter to Honiton is particularly noisy. Speeds of 80 or 70 mph are nor-
mal on major inter-city roads, but in towns the need for safety in residential areas is
causing the highway authority, the County Council, to bring in 20 mph limits and chi-
canes and humps to reduce spesad. The personal motor vehicle stands or moves every-
where, and much of the urban highway is now temporary parking space.
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Apart from the trank roads, the Counly Cournctl lus since 1971 been the highway
autherity for all reads in Devon, but in 1996 this funclion was assumed by the uni-
tary authorities of Plymouth and Torbay fov Ltheir areas, As highway authority Lhe
County Couneil iniliales all the design and inprovements of its 8000 miles af roads
and carries out maintenanee through Ioeal surveyors located at Exeter, Tiverton,
Sidmouth, Newton Abbot, vybridee, Okehampton, Torringian and Barastaple.

The most gignificant ehanges bo Devon’s ronds veer 2000 years sinee the Romans
ame and departed have laken ploce during the last 200 years, Remarkably, the
routes of the Roman roads con still be traced in various parts of the countey, but then,
so can the more recently constructed disused railway routes,

{n the last 30 years the Ueunty Surveyor hos suceessively heecome the Ceunty
Engineer and now the Counly Environmentad Diveetor bul his work of diveeting the
design of voads and bridges, traffic management, highway and bridge maintenanes,
developmendt control, publie vights of way, wasle management and countryside man-
agement continues to afford his stofl a fascinating range of activity during their work-
g lives.
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TOWNS IN NINETEENTH CENTURY DEVON
Philip Carter

The population of Deven as a whole nearly doubled tn the century 1801 - 1901, There
is oo an underlying trend of an increasing proportion of peuple living in the towns. In
L80L 47 per cenl of Devonlans, not yel a hall, Hved in our towns. By 1841 the per-
cenlage had increased to over half at 54 per cenl, and 1901 it was 74 per cent, praeti-
eally three-quarters, However it is the varying forlunes ol different kinds of lowns and
indeed individual ones, which is mosl Fascinating.

The figures ave, in a number of ¢ases, influted hy 4 surrounding rurad popatation in
the same parish. Broad Clyst is perhaps an extreme example of this, being a large
well-populated parish with @ winimal urban avea. Despite this type of ereor it is
Liped that the figures used will be goad enough to show general trends in urban
growlh or dectine. Decisions also had to be made about exelusion or amalgamation.
Where satellites are boosting Lthe Dgures these places have been omitted:-
BeerfSeaton;, East Budleigh/Budleigh Saltertan: trmington/lvybridge; Kenton/
Stoveress: Lydford/Princetown; Malborough/Saleambe:; Northam/Appledore and
Westward Ho! The [ollowiug hecause they lider coadesced, were added together:-
Dartmeuth + Townstall: Exeler + Heavitree + St Beonavd's + S0 Thomas; Exmouth +
Littleham + Withyeombe Raletgh; Kingshridge + Dadbrooke; Newton Abbot + Newton
Bushel; Plvmoulh + Compton Gillord + Ege Buekiand + Stoake Damerel + St Budeaux
+ Slenvhouse Enst: Plympton Earl + Plympton St dary, Sidmoath + Sidbury;
Teignmouth + Shaldon: Twrquay + Cockington + St buoyehuwreeh + Tormolun. Bere
Ferrers includes Bere Alsten, which was numerteally the greator part. Barnstaple is
probably short-changed because Piltow is not included but there wre particutar prob-
lems here, s only part of 11 was later included in Bavnstaple.

The Lowns i thix stady are listed in the Appendix thage 150 which is in desconding
growth order, The population s shown at three different dates and in the last column
ts the percentage vomparing 1001 with thot of 1801 The ontright losers ave apparent:
Cullurapton, URvablme, Ashburton, and Modbuey ol finished the centory smaller Lhan
they started. A eloser examination will show that many more had grown ot the begin-
ning of the contwry and then declined. These arve:- Barspton, Bere Ferrers, Braunton,
Broad Clyst, Chadleigh, Colyton, Crediton, Hartland, Hontton, Kingshridge, Ottory St
Mary, South Melton, Tavistoel, Fopsham and Torringlon. Theso two groups added
Logether mean thal approximately half the towoss in Devon did not continue to grow
throughout the period.

Administrotion centres always had an advantage over other towns. Consider
Fxeter. IL was for & tong while move thanr just a county town: it was a provineial can-
ttal.! Thraughout most of the period Bxeter was still the sec for both Devon and
Cornwall. Moreover hecause it was the political and social capital it prospered as a
centre tor the disiribulion of goods and services.® A good example of this is the fact
thal in F890 Fxeter was the head ollice and administration centre for the 85-branch
nelwork of The Devon & Bxeter Bavings Bank.?

[ 1834 the Poor Law Uniong were established; this resulted in a series of minor
capitate, the "Union” towns of theiv respeclive groups of parishes. Fifteen ol the six-
teen are indiented with a ‘U in the Appendix, the missing one is St Thomas that has
heen included with Exeter's figures. These were well chosen, geographically, in that
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they were usually central to their area. Later these ‘Union’ towns were chesen for
other functions such as registration and sanitary distriets.’ They all finished the cen-
tury with larger populations than they had at the beginning. A contrary political fac-
tor was the disenfranchisement af certain ancient Parliamentary Boroughs, in 1832,
1867 and 1885.% The likes of Ashburton and Plympton were never to have the same
impartance again but they could still prasper, compare Ashburton and Plympton in
the Appendix.

The [unction of a market ia not only ancient but also the raison d’efre for many of
Devon’s towns. Market towns provided ‘the core of the urban network.® Furthermore
the century saw cansiderable advances in animal selective breeding, four-course rota-
tion, and the adoption of new durable iron instruments on farms.” The products need-
ed to effect these changes were largely distributed from the market towns. Barry
spoke of decline in marketing function® and, far example, with regard to Exeter and
its cloth market he must be right. However Tames argued for increase because as well
as lor food, the enlarging process of industrialisation called for increasing gquantities
of organic raw mauterials, such as wool, hides, tallow, flax and straw.? These would
largely pass through the sume market towns. The prosperity of farming in turn not
only supported the markets bul the tradesmen and craftsmen of these towns ag
well.'® On the whole the century was profitable for farming and market towns. This
was despite depression after the Napeleonic wars and again from the 1870s onwards,
though Deven was less affected than many other areas. The great number of new mar-
ket halls in towns bears witness ta this overall prasperity, for instance:- Torrington
1842 Tavistock 1862, South Melton 1863" However the new railways which were
to affect agriculture, and indeed so many other things, did alter the established pat-
tern, Crediton, onee the railway was in operation, suffered from its nearness to
Exeter. ' South Melton's market alse shranl as rail enabled more convenient markets
to be set up elsewhere.” The point has been made that loss of market status mat-
tered,™ but it is also abundantly clear that its presence did not ensure success in the
nineteenth century. Those towns that were most heavily dependent on their market
alone were often those that fell furthest behind. Rubinstein called growth ‘unremark-
able’'® but it could be worse than that. The next most widely spread economic factor
in Deven towns had been manufacture, especially that of woollen eloth.'? In many
towns it had been far more important than the market. Even at the start of the peri-
od this trade was in decline and though some of it survived for longer than the rest,
by the end of the century there were probably only two towns actively vngaged, on any
large scale, in cloth manufacture, Buckfastleigh!® and Uffculme!®. Yet how different
are their population growths, see Appendix, Manufacturing was not confined to cloth
alone. Nearly every town had its tanneries, breweries and corn-mills. The railway was
again the agent of change, as it could easily overcome the handicap of distance. so that
the bigger more efficient units could bring about the demise of the smaller less efli-
cient ones. [t is true that the town, as opposed to the countryside, became the locus of
the remaining industrial production.®®

The days of importance for stannary towns had long gone but mining was still a fac-
tor in a few Deven towns. Tavistock was the most important, receiving considerable
spin-off from lccal mines. The Tavistock Canal, built at the beginning of the century,
and later the growth of Devon Great Consols near Morwellham, for a while ene of the
richest copper mines in the world, brought the town significant benefits.?! The Bere
Alston part of Bere Ferrers also had a renewal of mining activity in the period.* Clay
extraction was of interest to Torrington and Newton Abbot and their respective ports
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of Bideford® and Teignmouth.?* Quarrying teo was a factor at sume towns such as
Bampton,? and Okehampton® amongst others.

Defence in the form of the Dockyard and its ancillary services, barracks, hospital,
vietualling yards ete. was the reason for the growth of Devon's largest town.27 Newton
talked of the ‘stimulus of war’.*¥ However the amount of government money expend-
ed on a project such as Plymouth's breakwater, largely built in peacetime, was stag-
gering for that age. It must have been an enormous fillip to the local economy, ns well
as providing a wonderful new safe haven for all shipping, nol just warships.2®
Plymouth though was but a single example, na ather town was so significantly alTect-
ed throughout the century by war or preparation for it.

Thoroughfare towns, those that serviced road transport routes, show another Facet
of urban functions.® This increased in importance with the spread of turnpike roads.
South Molton®! on the road to Barastaple and Honiton on the main Loadon to Exeter
road™ are good examples of towns that thrived by servicing coaches and their pas-
sengers. Chudleigh had in fact risen in importance simply because it was on the main
road to burgeoning Plymouth,* Ashburten too gained for this reason. All these towns
were 1o lose a sector of their business with the coming of the railway. There was no
need to stop to change the horses or feed the passengers! The improved roads ton
emphasized and increased the importance of certain towns as communication centres,
e.g. Exeter™ As railways developed they performed a similar function. the main line
towns had an advantage ever these on branch lines.

Educational establishments were a minor but useful factor in the ceonomy of some
towns. Blundell’s School at Tiverton®™ was maybe the hest known example but theve
were others. Newton Abbot had its College.3% The training ships for naval eadets at
Dartmouth, the Britannia and the Hindustan needed local supplies and accommoda-
tion for staff and their families.™7

Seaports had from very early timeg been of great significance in a westerly mar-
itime county such as Deven. In our modern perception we are likely to think primari-
ty of overseas trade. It is possible to overleck the enormovus importance in the past of
the coasting trade, and its river feeder systems, The Tamar was & major trade route.®
Railways altered the balance of much inland bulk freight but there was still a con-
siderable coastal trade,™ particularly in such eommodities as coal. Dartmouth staged
a revival in the latter part of the nineteenth century hecause of the development of
the coal-bunkering trade." Ancther aspect of making a living from the sea was the
fishing industry. Brixham was for many years the most significant town in this busi-
nesst but Plytnouth later grew to prominence.* To support this maritime trade, boat
and ship-building was present at a number of centres both at Brixham® and
Plymauth* and at scveral other places as well, such as Bideford, Dartmouth, and
Topstiam. % Ports in the Appendix have been marked with a ‘P’. All gained consistently
in the period save Tupsham which no deubt lost business through Exeter's decline as
a manufacturing centre.

Leaving aside Plymouth’s spectacular performance because of defence, the biggest
growth area o [evon stemmed from its resort towns. At the start of the pericd there
were perhaps five watering places on the south coast: Sidmouth, Exmouth, Dawlish,
Teignmouth and Torquay and one on the novth, Tiiracombe. By the end of the century
there was not mueh change in numhers. [ is the overali changes in the size of popu-
lation that has far greater significance. Tarquay and Exmouth have risen from very
small players to became third and fourth in the size hierarchy, All the other reserts
have grown significantly, the railway again playing a large and uneven part in this.¥?
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Those o which the railway came early, such as Dawlish 1846, Teigmuouth 1846, and
Torguay 1848 gol a heller start than those wheve it came later such as Hiracombe and
Sidmouth.*® However [fracombe svercame this deficit better than Sidmouth having
more steamer traffic.™ Several Devon resorts though were fortunate, during the pert-
od, in building a reputation as winter reserts."" This nol only gave a longer season but
also led more often to residence particularty for invatids and the retired.™ The resorts
ave marked with an ‘R’ in the Appendix and they all achieved high growth,

Sonsidering calegories highlights peneral trends bul i glosses over Lthe sheer diver-
sity of lowns” occupations. A few individual examples from the end of the period are
therefore listed. Barnstaple™ and Bideford had polteries™ aud the latter town its
paint industry based on coal, a raw material unigque in Devon.® Bovey Tracey had a
pottory® Buckfastleigh™ and Exeten™ amongst others, had paper mills, Crediton
had a substantial shoe-making™ and smaller lozenge industry.™ Yel these Lwoe aclive
industries did not preventk Cradilon’s decline, see Appendix. Tivecton's principal
industry was machine lace manufaciure employing over a thousand " Lace was still
made by hand at both Honiten, its traditional centve, and Sidmoulh.™ Torrington
was a gloving centre giving work to several hundreds™ yvet it alse declined,

Ratlways have already been referred to in the categories of market, thoroughfare
and resort towns, However the railwiays were such o major catalyst of change in this
huge shift of population, that they need further constderation. Hosking said, ‘Uhe rail-
way killed many of lhe old markel towns’ 5 Yet two Devon towns Hartland and
Modbury never had a railway. Their lowly position in the Appendiz must surely be o
contrary argument; no lown bas done warse than Modbury, Yet the speed and facitity
of ratl Lravel widened people’s horizons and destroyed the onee near impregnable hin-
terland of some seven to ten miles. The small towns were brought into competition
with bigger markets and the shopping facilities of larger towns ¥

The hinterlands of some towns widoubtedly inereased in size but it is difficull
samelimes Lo pick oud why some lowns gained and others (altersd. Newton Abbot was
geographically close to the star pecformer Tovquay, vet it fourished, Did Torguay's
growth assist? However Totnes was positioned just a little further away, yet it lan-
guished. Even Lthose towns with a train service could still suffer for topographical rea-
sons. Dartmouth for instance, a town that had a station bud ne trains! Dracombe and
Okehmnplon suffered as shopping cenlres because their stalions were high on hills
above the towns: shoppers did not like the long climb back when laden. Sidmouth may
have kept its exclusivity but lost husiness because its station was so far Prom the
town, ™ Newton Abbet on the other hand ilibustered to get the station near the
town"" and then improved the aceess to il.

The nineteenth century was undoubtedly one of change in Devon's towns. The bulk
of the remaining cloth trade went, the total urban population grew and Lhe railways
came. Plymouth’s strategic imporiance ensured its suecess. The resorts bear testimo-
ny to the beginnings of what we know now as mass tourism. The ports generally
gained not declined. The rest of the towns’ forbunes variad. Those wilh the new bigger
hinterlands and a mixed economy lared the best. The smaller lowns that werve solely
dependent on agricaliure lared the worst. The function that had suatained them for
many centuries was now not enough to maintain their prosperity, The nation had
maoved on and they were left behind.
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APPENDIX

Town
Torquay
Exmonth
Patgnion
Nowton Abbnt
racembe
Plymuouth
Teignmnouth
Exeter
DPawlish
Bidelrd
Boarnstaple
Plymplon
Brixham
Olkehamptan
Sidmuouth
Holsworthy
Plymslock
Dartmouth
Bovey Tracey
Buckfastleigh
Bere Ferrers
Tavistock
Braunton
Tiverlon
Torrvington
Kingsbridge
Ottery St Mary
Honiton
Axminster
Tolnes

Broad Clyst
Bampton
Colylon
Crediton
Hartland
South Mokton
Chudleigh
Topsham
Cullompton
Ulfeulme
Ashburton
Modbury
Total Urban

Devon

U = *Unien’ town of a group of parishes. R = Resorl. P = Porl

9]
u
U
r

U

IJ
i)

[.)

R
i
R

I
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1801
1,943
2,601
1474
2126
L8338
44,879
2579
20,564
1,424
2987
4748
9,166
3,671
1,500
2,485
1,045
1,633
3,412
1,431
1,525
1,110
3,420
1,296
6,505
2,044
1,779
2,415
2,377
2,154
2.503
1.540
1,364
1,641
4,929
1,546
2,753
1,786
2,748
3,148
1,897
3,080
1,813
158,489
340,308

15

1841

7 454
5,119
2501
3,456
3,679
95,9422
fi.634
49,062
3,142
5211
7.902
4,690
5,684
2,194
5,080
1,859
2,966
4,595
1,823
2,576
2,142
6,272
2,274
10,040
2,419
2,793
4,194
3,895
2,860
3,049
2,401
2,049
2,451
5,947
2,223
4,274
2,415
3,793
3,900
2,011
3,841
2,048
288,749
532,959

1901,
HELN80
20,8454

8,185
L. 78
8,507
201,926
9,804
(6,872
4,084
5,704
49,6894
4,854
8,002
3,223
5,108
2,076
3,195
6,428
2 658
3,781
1,995
5,841
2,135
10,382
3,941
2,596
3,495
3,271
2,933
3,116
1,900
1,657
1,982
5,266
1,634
2,802
1,820
2,790
2,922
1,704
2,628
1,330
490,187
662,196

ool L8]
1753
406
ni2
non
466
450
380
324
4ud
aIh
2549
229
220
215
206
(R538
196
188
186
182
176
171
165
160G
159
148
145
138
138
124
123
121
121
107
106
105
o2
102
93
93
85
T3
300
195



ILSINGTON PARISH AND THE LANDSCARO OF
PEADINGTUN

Rill Ransom

Long before parish boundaries and parishes, as now undersiood, became defined
many around Davimeor had seen settlements established, grow and then
dectine Hsington was ne exception. Indeed, althaugh not genecally rich in prehistoric
remains, its monrlund did contain within Ltwo paraltel reaves the lavgest such settie-
ment oo Dacleor. Known as the Rippon Toer system this, of about 20 sq. ko in
extent, vombains the remains of some 121 huts and probably dates from around 160D
to 1400 B.OC Bxamples of olher, smaller, settlements lie on Haylor Down and Bagtor
Down. The remains of a chambered tomb, known as the Sig tomb, for it Tes near the
headwaters ol Lhat stream, may dale (rom 2000 B.CO Al these. and olher examples,
have heen comprehensively recorded and deseribed by Butler! Accordingly they are
not consgidered further in this paper exeept Lo stress the importancee, and signilicance,
ol reaves.

Heaves are boundary walls, not hetilicatons, and may demarcale mdividuat fields,
Curtns, entire settlements or mogor terviterial divisions, While many post-date the
Canquest others are from ihe Brongt Age. They are of importance in helping Lo inler-
pret ihe possible line of a pre-Conguest Saxan boundary known as Lhe landsearo of
Peatdinglun, {or it is suggested that, in the absence of specific natural fealures such
as rivers or tars, they may have been used to define the line ol such @ boundary, This
touched upon, and may have helped Lo establish, what later becume the parish bound-
ary of singlon and the boundaries of neighbouring parishes, in partieutar those of
Ashburton, Bickington, Widecombe and Woodland, The strip of parchment, wrillen in
Anglo-Saxon, defining Wthis boundary. is believed (o relate to an episcopal charier. The
landseare, while undaued, is aceepted as being of pre-Conguest date, perlaps acound
1350 or carbivr, and condains the corliest knomen references Lo places which now [ie oa,
or within, the Hsington parish boundarw,

Dewidson® was the first Lo bring this document o publie adtention and the st to
atteripl to relale the lands it desceribes Lo places known today. There hoave been
attempls since, particularly by Rose-Tronp? aud Gover, Mawer and Stenton’, but lit-
tle ol significance relating to [sington parish. My suggestion, but only for that aren
and its immedinte neighhourhood, and the reasons oe i ave given below against the
Anglo-Baxen wording as transcribed by Davidson.

Comming in from the north-waest of lsinglon parish we bave:-

L Of cealfa dune v sufon stanas, (From ealves down to Lhe <even stones) A pre-his-
Lorie reave runs from the apper East Webburn to Two Barrows on Hameldown, SX
TOTTG2, blowing what is now & boundary between the parishes of Widecombe and
Manalon. It ternninates somewhere in Soussons, perhaps close to Bphraims Pinch, SX
678786, where there 15 still 2 stone circle. Thus roule would pass through the south-
ern end of Challacombe Down. Soussons is generally accepted as derving from sulun-
slanns.

200 wufan starvern on hyfen freow, {from the seven stones to the hive treen | helieve
this iz noi Lo Healree Cross, SKT30810, as somelinmes stated, bul much nearer to
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Fleadland Warren, SX 683812, where hives are still put out todoy. Healree Cross and
Langstone Cross, (see poink 5 below, have also been suggested as Lwe points on the
buundary but that would involve points 3 and 4 below {ying belween them within an
nverall distance of only about 1 ki, an unlikely disparity in distances between potnds
on g roule, for the preceding point, Soussons, is some Gl from Heatree Cross,

3 On hvfon freowee o hord burfe, (Fram the hive bree to U treasure fort, or fortified
places, Pozsibly front Headland Warren tollowing what is now the boundary hetween
Widecombe and Nurth Bovey, to King's Barrow, BX 7089514,

A Of hordbyry on deorford, {Feam the treasure fort to the deer ford), Very uncertain
but the fine would suggest a lord in the avea of Vogwell, SX 723816,

3.0 deorforde en langastan, (Friom the deer ford to the longstonel. Possibly to
Langstane Cross or Langstone in Monaton porish, SXTAGR24,

B LY hung stare on eofede {or (0rom the longslone to the ? tor). No accepted fransio.
tion ol the word ‘eofede” has been found despile extensive enguities, A posilive identi-
fication of this point is craeial to a more covtain identilication af preceding and sue-
ceeding points, The fnferpretation favoured by Gover, Mawer and Stenton s Haylor
Rock. However, this is o greater distance from Langaton: Cross thun woltld seem con-
sislent with the general placement of points on the boundary, 1Uwould also vaise great
difficulties with the identification of subsequent points. There 18 much to be said {or
‘wofede to” being Manaton Rovks, 83X 747815, FEkwall® believes that cofede may be
derived From Ui meaning Gvy’. If sa, this wauld cectainly it far more comfelahly
with Manaten Roeks than with Haytor Rock fur while jvy can readily be envisaged as
cloaking the former it would he diflicult to coneeive it For the latten

7. O cafede toree on hean dune forviceerde. (Trom ¥ tor Lo the forepart of the high
downt | avour Havne Down.

& Of hean dune on thone blindan wille. 1From the high down to the blind wellh, Very
uncertain: Yarner Wells bas been favoured by some, However, o subsianlial reave on
Flayne Down runs betwoeen the summit rocks and is associated with o passage-way
which runs in a south-casterly divection towards the Becks Brool, I is suggested that
g well or spring in the urceo around 8X 752792 is a more hikely condidate. There are
still, Loday, springs in that drea and the line would then reach the Becka Breok at, ov
close to, the existing houndary between Hsinglon and Manaton parishes.

9O (e o weidle o wrifelansten . (From that well Lo the insertbed? stone), There i<
uneertainty as to the translation of ‘writelanstan’ [f' it means ‘uscribed’, as belivved
by Davidson, then one can only conjectire s to s original position. There is an
inscribed stone ol 8X 768757 suggested by Brewer® as lying on the boundary. (The
grid relvrence given by Brewer is ingorrectl Pearce’ shows the stone in the right posi-
tion and also takes il as being probably on the boundary. However, theve are diffieud-
ties v so doing, with subsequent points, A more likely position would be near Hole
Rack, SX 756785, visible lrom Becka Brook, which is at the western end of a prehis-
torie reave which runs along the varthern line of the Hsinglon parish boundary,
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1. OF tham stane on ruwa beorf. (From the stone to the rough mound). The bownd-
ary may have followed the line of the reave to the east and then along the ridge
Lowards what i now known as Owlacombe Barrow, 53X 776776, There is pow no sign
at a barrow or cairn bul the name suggests that there mighl once have been.

L1 Of rewen beorge on ferspenn. {From the rongh mound or barrow to the fieze hill).
Pussibly from Owlacombe Barrow to the vicinity of Penn Wood. There are both a Furze
Hift and a Broom Hill shown in the sehedule to the Tithe map of 18389, a litlle to the
south of Ponn Wood and tying on the current Isington parish boundary. Peadingtun’s
beundary may have passed down what is now Tipley Lane, to "Tipleyhill Cross, SX
800757, thenee to Willis's Cross, SX 800753 und around Rora Wood on the western
side. IL is suggested that the Rora Wood and Penn Weod shown on maps teday would,
in that distant past, not have been considered as separate entities, (At the bottom of
Tipleyhill Lane there is o lield known loeatly aslvepan’, elearty a close corruption of
Fyrapenn’™. Although it is nol o feture of sufficient prominenes on its own io be a
strong candidate as boundary marker, nevertheless it is @ pointer to this being in the
right area lor the houndary).

12. OF fyrspenne on gyt ciomes heafod, (Froin furze hill to the head of the herl or
plant valley). This could well be the head of the deep valley which runs up from
Willig's Oross to the Isington/Bickifiglon boundary stone at SX 792741 About Lwa-
thirds of the way up this valley are [ields shown on the Tithe map rveferred Lo as
Woolcombe Park and Migher and Lower Landscove. The former scoms a plausible
phonological dertvation from ‘wyrt cumes’ and the latter might be hom Landscore’
possibly by a textuul or phonelogical change. As the next point, 12, is one of the few
positively ideulified points, and as this is the only combe running up to it this inter-
pretation of the line of the boundary has o firm foundation,

L4 OF wyrtcumes heajde on rammeskorn. (From the head of the herh or plant valley
ta Rainshorn). here we have at Jast a sertain position, Ramshorn lying in the adjacent
Bickington parish, 8X 733734

14, Or fuiameshorne on fulea stile (From Ramshorn to Lurcombe), The boundary now
passes to the parishes of Biekinglon, Ogwell and Ashburton and is no longer relevant
to this paper.

"This interpretation of the relationship of Peadingturn's landscaro (o Lthe boundary of
Nsington parish is strengthened by the Faet that the demesne farm of Rora and its
fields lie adjacent to it: the name ‘Rora’ is generally accepted as deriving from ‘Hore',
that is al the boundary? [t is further strengthened by veference to a survey of lands
in llgington maner undertaken in 1566." [n that survey a description of the holding
of Smallacombe refers to ‘divers parcels of land lving together ahout the Londscore
next Idetore Down, (Haytor Down). A description of Oldertown alse mentions ‘divers
pareels of land calied Lev Sholes lying in common about the bounds called Les
Londscores’. These holdings of Smallacombe and Oldertown lie at the novth-castern
side of the Hsinglon parish boundary,

It is not the intention of this paper Lo make a clabim that this is a correct solution to
the Bne of Peadingtur’s boundary in the vieinity of Usington parish. It is putl forwaed
as a reasonable interpretation bul one open Ly change should olher data come to light.
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Crve can do so better than to quote from Hooke!! who sunmimarises the position here,
and alzo in vegavd to olher early chariers and Lheir boundary elawses, when she statey
‘carrect sulutions are probably almoest impossible to altain’

lhese letters are a leansliteration of the letter used by Davidson for Lo do otherwise
waould need its speetal printing.

References
Lo Butder, L Darimoor Atlas of Antiquitios, vol L The Fase, Devon Books, 1991

2. Davidson, J8B. Some Anglo-Saxan Boundaries now Depogited at the Albert

Museumn, Exeter] Transactions of the Deconshive Association, vol 8. 1876 pp396-
419

3. Rose-Troup, I, ‘Anglo-Baxon Charters of Devoashire,” Devon & Cornwall Notes
end Queries, 17, 19321933, pplld- 12

4. Gover, JE.B., Mawer. A.. & Stenlon, FM. The PMlace Names of Devon, vol.9,
Bnglish Place-Name Soviety, Cambridge, 1932, ppla2-463

5. Blewall, B, Concise Oxford Dictionary of Englisft Place-Nemes, $th edition, 1966

6. Brewer, D., A Field Guide to the Boundory markers on and arownd
Deertmoor,Devon Books, 1990

7. Pearce, 8., ¢ Barly Medieval Land Usce on Dartmoeor and its Flanks, Devon
Archacology, No.3, Dartinoor Issne, 1985

8. Doevon Record Offiee, Tithe Map and Schedule for Hsington, 183%

9. Wills, RN, Personal Comimunication

19, Devon RBeeord Offien, Survey of Lord Dynham's Tands, Z71773/19, 1566

11. Hooke, Iv., Pre-Conguest Charter Bounds of Devon and Cornwall, Bovdell Press,
1994

Senir alse-

Fleming, A, The Darimoar Reaees, Balstord, London, 18988

20

THE LOST LIFE OF SAINT BRANNOC OF BRAUNTON

Nicholas Grant

The village of Hraunton in north Devon takes its name from o Celtic sainl Brannog;
the Noinesday Book records the placename as Brardon, Uthal is, Breanoc + (un,
‘Brannae's settlement’.! What ean we discover about 81, Brannee? The shorl answer is
very Hitle: becauso those medieval and later writers who refer to Brannoe themselves
kneswe nothing bistarical about the saint, Nevertheless, sorucone managed to produce
aowrilten e of Bronnoe by the fifkeenth century, This account is now lost, hut a copy
was seen by at least bwo antiguaries o the post-medieval period, and we can at least
partially reconsteuct its contents, and anadyse whal saurees (L dresy from, Whilst it is
impossible to determine much about the historical St Branneg, it i still possible to
say somelhing about what Deveniang bolieved about St Brannoe in the medicval and
post-medisval periods.

The evidence concerning St. Brannoe falls into theee ehranolagical groups. These
are, firgtly, chartee evidence for Braunton in the Inter Anglo-Saxan period; secondly,
medicval records of the bishop and callwedral of Exeter, the latber of which acquized
Braunton and some rebies of the saint during this period; and thivdly, immediate pre-
and post-Reformation records of the legends of 3L Brannoe colleeted by early anti-
gquarians. This evidence is fivstly presented, then diseussed, below.

{i) Anglo-Saxon Records (ninth-tenth centuries)

Braunton is referred o in three Anglo-Saxon charters. The latest of these in date 1=
the most straightforward: in 973 King Bdgar granted 7 hides at High Ham, Somerset,
1o Glastoubury Abbey in exchange fur Brancininsire * Glaslonbury had earlier been
granted Braunlon by the king of Wessex; William of Malmesbury in his de Antiquitate
of ¢ 1135 notes the existence in the Glastonbury archive of a charler of King
Acthelbald dated 867 grantiug W hides at Brannocminster to the abbeyv? However,
this charter is now fost, and cither its dale, or ils grantor, is recorded incorrectly, as
Aethelbald ruled from 840 to 8600 A thivd charter suggests Lhat the grant could date
instead to the relgn of King Acthelwulf(838-55). This charter, dated 854, enlranchised
atenth part of Glastonbury Abbey's lands, including ¥ hide at (depending on the man-
useript copyt Brant or Branok! This charter has been regarded with suspicion by
commentitors, and may bo parvtly or whaolly a later lorgery. It exists only in two four-
leenth-century wopies, although again the chacter is recovded by Williaan af
Malmeshbury us present in the abbey's arehiviss in 11353

(i1} Medieval Records (thirteenth-fourteenth cenfuries)

Land in Braunton was first acquired by Lhe Bishop of Exeler in the time of Witliam (
(1066-87) and in L1225 this land was used by Bishop William Briwere as part-endaw-
menl for the newly-formed deanery of Excter” Brannoe begins to appear in the Exeter
records following Lthe donation of velies Lo the eathedral in the first guarter of the foue-
teenth century, A cathedral inventory of 1327 noles ‘a silver roliquary with the bones
of the hiessed Branuoe, donated by Dean Bartholomew’.” Burtholomew was diean of
the cathedral and rector of Braunton between 1310-1326. A briel notice of 5t. Brannoe
appears in the calhedrals fourteenth contury marvtyrology (Parker M3 93), under 7
HJanuary, ‘in Brilain Lhe commemoration of Saint Brannoe, conlessor, whi rests al
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Braunton in the diocese of Exeter’.® In Bishop Grandisson’s OQrdinale of 1337, a hand-
book prescribing how daily services were to be performed in the cathedral (Exeter
Chapter M3 3502}, are a number of brief notices of 8t. Brannoe. In the Calendar for 7
Janvary are directions for the saint’s feast celebrations ‘Saint Brannoe, abhot and con-
fessor, 9 lessons’.? A number of other brief mentions in the Ordinale provide no fur-
ther biographical information beyond confirming that Brannoe was regarded as an
abhot and confessor'® Brannoc’s lessons would have consisted of brief biographical
readings for use in the cathedral on the saint’s day. Readings for the saints venerat-
ed at Exeter Cathedral were drawn up by Bishop Crandisson in his Legenda
Sunctorum {Exeler Chapter MSS 3504 and 3505) Unfortunately the legenda for a
number of Celtie Saints - Brannoe, Pieran, Petroc and Sativola - which should appear
at the end of the volume are now lost.!! A ecatalogue of the books of the cathedral
library in 1506 includes ‘Legends of Saint Brannoe'.'? Unfortunately this work has
also not survived, bul it could have been a copy of the lost readings from the Legenda
Sanctorum. A separate medieval copy of the Legenda for Sativola was made and does
survive." In any case, Brannog's Legende probably post-dates 1327 as it does not
appear in the previous surviving library ealzlogue of that dale.

(iii) Pre- and Post-Reformation Records (fiftecnth-seventeenth centuries)

In 1478 during his tour of the Wesleountey, William Worcester noted in his {iferaries
that ‘St. Branocus, in English Bﬂrn:m, hermit, lies at Braunton 4 miles north-west of
Barnstaple; he was the son of the King of Calabria and his day is kept on 7 January’ 1#
Also probably of medieval date is a lost list of English saints and their resting places
copied down by John Leland in his Collectanes, wriling ¢.1540. According to this Hst
‘in Braunton rests 8t Brannoe, a man famous for miracles’.'? Nicholas Orme has sug-
gosted'® that this list could dale back to the twelfth or thirteenth century.'?

Nicholas Roscarrock’s Lives Of The Saints, compiled between ¢ 1610-1620 records
that ‘St Brannoe was a blessed man who gave name to Brannocstowne, now Brampton
in Devonshire, and agreeth with 3t Bernack in 50 many things, as namely in the stone
which he is sald Lo use as a boat to come vver the sea, in Lurning water into wine, ete.,
as [ would think them hoth one, but Lhat Lhe Feast of 8t Brannoe was wont to be kept
the 7th January, whereas St Bernachus is kept the 7th of April. Besides, the legend
(as I herel of Bt Brannoe saieth he was a king's son of Calabria, bul where 5t
Bernachus was born T have not read, and therefore may he very well one although
their feasts may be divers, for one may be the day of his death, another of his trans-
lation or dedication of the churel of Brampton to him. Read 8t Bernachus as I have
colected and as Capgrave has it They used in Brampton in Devonshire to keep a
Feast of him at Easter, as Uthink the Monday, which they call S Brannocks Ayle, {le
or Yule"™ The legend of the Welsh saint Bernachus, or Brynach, as referred to hy
Roscarrock, is of eritical importanee to an understanding of the legend of St. Brannoe
and is discussed further below.

The Devon antiquary Thomas Westeote, writing in 1630, notes ‘Braunton ... some
will have it to be called Brannockstown, and to take name from a holy man, a saint;
of whom, if you will be attentive to a legend, I will read you briefly what 1 have found
in the history of this place; which saith that he was the King’s son of Calabria, a
province (as | taket) of Naples, who arrived here in the time of King Malgo Conanus’s
son, h81, after the time of our Redemption, here he landed, was sealed, builded a
church and preached God’s word, and taught the people to manure their land (which
was then in manner of a wilderness), by yvoking harts, who mildly cheyed him, and
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rilking the hinds; and with this plough brought timber to the place, where the church
now stands, to build it. But to proceed no further and to forebear to speak of his cow
(which being killed, chopped into pieces and boiling in his kottle, came out whole and
sound at his call), his staff, his oak and his man Abel, which would seera wonders, Yet
all these you may see al large, Hvely represented unto you, in a fair glass window at
this prosent, as [ think, if you desire il ... we might now leave Braunlon, but we must.
tirst taste their ale, (the ancient drink of England,} whieh the inhabitants say is bel-
ter, and to be preferred hefore Webby-ale, or Darby-ale, or Modbury-huff-cap, and they
call it 8t. Barnards cow’s milk’. !

Finally, Westcote's friend, Tristram Risdon, also writing in 1630, makes similar
remarks; one copied the other (probably in Uhis case, Risdon drew on Westeote, who
has the fuller account), Risdon’s account runs ‘Branton, anciently Brannnckstowne, so
named of St. Branock, the king's son of Calabria, thal lived in this vale; and as
appeareth in the book of his commemaoration of the place, arrived here in the days of
Malgo-Coname, king of the Britains, and three hundred yoars after Christ, began to
predch his holy name in this desolale place, then overspread with brakes and woods.
Out of which desert, now named the Boroughs, (1o tell you sume of the marvels of this
man} ke took harts, which meekly nbeyed the yoke, and made them plow to draw tim-
ber thence to build a church; which may gain eredit, if it be true. Hislovians write that
in foreign couniries they cause red deer to draw, and milk theiv hinds. OF which,
Giraldus maketh no wonder, but avoucheth, that he hath scen the same aften used in
Wales, where he did eat cheese made of hind's milk.  forbear to speak of his cow, his
stafl, his ouk, his well, and his sevvant Abel; all of which are lively represented in a
glass window of Lhat church, than which you shall see few [airer of one roof"2V

The window was destroyed by Puritans later in the seventeenth century. However,
it did noi represent the only iconography of Brannoc in the church. A series of six-
teenth century bench-ends survive; of these Number 38 is carved with a saint and a
cow, which must represent Brannoe, Less certainly, Number 6 is carved with stags’
heads, which may refer to Brannoc’s taming of the wild deer. A roof boss showing a
white sow with its farrow may also refer to a tegend, discussed further below, which
could have become associated with Brannoe.2! Finally, it has been suggested that an
unidentified saint carved inlo the chancel side of the rood-sereen fmmediately over
the central arch could be Brannoe™ Bolh the roof and the rood-sereen date from the
fifteenth-sixteenth contury 2

Dliscussion

What conclusions can be drawn from this? The 973 charter, and the charter dated
867 refer to Braunton as ‘Brannoe’s minster’. ! In the period before the establishment
ol the parish system, a minster was a major church served by a leam of clergy and
respongibie for pastoral care for a large arca up to the size of ten modern parishes. 2
Clearly the saintly dedication of the site implies pre-Saxan origins, Susan Pearce has
suggested that the ninth-century grant to Glastonbury represented the endowment of
a decayed former Celtic monastery, and its absorption mlo o larger monastery,®®
Peavce further suggests that the Celtic monastery could have been founded ¢.550,
although really such a site could have heen founded at any dale between shoul 500
and 700AD. Any eeclesiastical significance the site might have possessed in the pre-
Saxon period is undikely to be directly relevant to its choice as the site of a minster,
however. Rather, the Devon minsters seem to have been planted from the ei ghth cen-
tury onwards through royal initiatives, most being on or close to royal manors, as
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Braunton was. 7

However, Brannne achieved no wider fame despite the cults of Celtic saints becom-
ing fashionable amongst the Anglo-Saxons in Lthe tenth and cleventh centaries. There
is no mention of Brannoe in any Anglo-Sasan litany of the tenth - eleventh conturies,
including Lthose assoclated with Exeter iwhich was eventually the site of Braunton’s
bishoprcr and Glastonbury (which ownid Braustion ter a venturyr®™ Neithor is
Brannoe Hsied in The Resting Places OF The Saints, an early eleventh century ml-
grimage document, although adnuttedly this Hats only Sidwell al Bxeter and Rumen
at Tavistuek for Pevon 2!

I was only with the agquisition of Brannods prelics by Bxeter Cathedral thal
Brannoe emerges from complete obscourity via @ few brict notices in the bishopric’s
records. By the fourteenth century, he was believed to have been an abbol and con-
fussar, with a death-day of 7 Junuary, This last peint, if anything, is likely to he an
authentic fact aboul Brannoe At the samy Lime. o bried blography would have been
prepared; certainly a life of some description existed at Fxeler by 1502 whon it iy
noted in the tventory.

The accounts of Lhe antiquaries from the Biteenth 1o the seventeenth century may
derive from another source, however; o lile held at Brouoton itself In 1330 Bishep
Grandisson commuanded Lhat two ar three copies be made of the lives and legends of
the Cormish saimds preserved in chuarches, before all were invidved in irveparable loss,
Whether this command was ohoyed is not known, but this reference does prove Lhat
it wus oflicial policy to keep o written life, or Vit, of the loeal saint in his ar her
chureh ™ Such a dife coudd be the souvee used be the laler antiquaries, The accounts
uf Woestzote Cwhal Thave found in the history of s pdace’) and Risdon Uas appeareth
in the: book of commemoration of his place™ make it clear thal they had, in the cacly
sevenleenth conlury, secn a written account of Brannoe [ is not certain how their
eontemporacy Roscarrock oblained his information about Brannoe, probably oral
hearsay rather than o written account.™ William Worcestor statos that he obluined
his information nbout Branoee from a Tavistock mean named Thomas Peperelle, papat
nolary puhiic,’“ [Towever, as hoth Roscarrock and Worcester make reference to
Branmoe being the son of the king of Calabeia, thelr information could ultimately
retale to the same writken account as thatl seen by Westeote and Risdon, which would
push s dale back into the later (feenth centurw

Roscarrack draws attention to sirmitarvities between U legends of St Branned, as
he had heard them, and the Hfe of 8t Brynach, us sel, outin John of Tynemoutiys fouy-
teenth cenlury Novg Legendo Anglie, which Roscarrack refors to as ‘Capgrave” ™ The
et of St. Brynach is found in south-west Wales, his mwost notable churches being
Llanfrynach and Nevern! A Latin Vita of ¢ 1200 written in Wales exists for
Bryaach™ and was the souree of the Nopa Legenda Anglie account, Roscarrock notes
two mirackes as common o both Brynach and Brannoc - sailing on a vacle aver the sea
(Chapter 8 in the Vit of ¢. 12003 and turning water into wine (Chapter V. Neither of
these mirackes ave included in the lepvnds recorded about Branpoe by Risdon and
Westcote, There are other legendary mtifs shared by Brannee tas recorded by
Westeole and Hisdon) and Brynach (in his Vi These are o holy welt (Chapler 410 the
voking of stags (Chapler [0 the cow which gives an abundance of milk and when
later killed, proves auncookable {Chapters 12-13% and the oak iree which produced
loaves (Chapter LAy, There is a further legend in the Vit of Brynach, where the saint
receives instructions in a vision to build a church where e finds a white sow and her

farvow {Chapter 71, which may also have been imported into the fost life of Brannoc.
Although noue of the writien sources about Brannoe link him with such a legend, a
roof boss above the font in the parish church shows a sow and her tamity and could
suggest that this Brynach story ton tame Lo be part of Brannoe’s legend. However, this
15 a comrman motif on roof bosses.

1t is chear Lthen that the Nova Legende Anglie account of Beynach must have lormed
a major souree of the lost life of Brannoc, However, it is most, unlikely that Brynach
of Wales was the samie wean as Brannoe of Braunton Neither the original Welsh Vite
of Brynach or the Noea fegende Anglie aecount link Brynach with Braynton or Devon
at all, and both assert that Hrynach was buried ol his ehueeh in Walos, Brynach's les-
tival and alleged death-day was 7 April whereas Brannoe's was 7 Junaary. There are
tegends associated with Brannoe that have no parallal in the accotnts of Brynach,
namely those of his servant Abel. and his ataff, not that we know what Lhese stores
were, Neither is there anything in the aecounts of Brypach about that saint heing the
son of thy King of Calabria, Whereas the name of the king that Brynach eame inta con-
{lict with is nat given in the Nova Legendoa Anglie aceount falthough the king is nomued
as Matgonus in the oviginal Welsh life), in the avcount scen hy Westeole Brannoe is
associoted with King Malgo, Conanus’ son, Finally, il also appears probable that the
medieval records referving Lo Brannee as an abbot and confessor incorporate other
material - semi-scholirly conjectare or local folldore nt, ohviously linked o accounts
af Brynach.

tiy the sixteenth century, therefore siovies of Brannoe were recorded not unty in Ht-
eravy form ab Fxeter and Braunton, but in picterial fem at Braunton in the church
window and bench-ends, The loeal saint Brannoe had been identified with o Welsh
saint Brynach, whose life had been pablished in a popular collection of saints’ lives.
Large parts of Brynaeh’s legend had been adapted and relocated bo Braunton, This
saint bove @ =imiliav name but was almest certaindy 2 difterent, man. This appropria-
tion wix dovhthss possible hecause so liktle was known about Brannoee. Other lepends
untque to Brannoe either aceraed bater or were absorbed inte this aceount, The lost
Lile of Brannoe was therefore o misbmash of common tegendary matifs and divect 1ifts
Fram the Vit of another saint, plus prabably seme distinctive local matorial, That of
course makes it o from unigue amongst medieval saints’ lives, but it does show how
pnpovtant. and meaningful Brannoe and his cult vemained to the parishioners of
Graunton, that they needed Lo kuew these thivgs abeut their saint.

The writer acknowlodges with gratitude the helpful comments of Professor Nicholas
Orme. '
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peel potatoes in the open air using a stream that emerged from the bank opposite Lee
Mount. I could originally find no sign of this stream but then noticed a small culvert
under the road in front of the yard to Copplestone Mill. Tracing this back led indeed
to the stream at the very back of the yard, a strong cold stream of water good for both
washing potatoes and inducing the chilblains from which Ernie suffered acutely. The
other story was that he used to swim naked in a reservoir belonging to the railway
that was nearhy, and that the Copplestone Stationmaster would chase him and other
boys out of this. I had had to find a map to get listed building consent for the plaque
to be fixed on Lee mount, which is listed in fact only because Ernie Bevin lived there.
the map shows the reservoir clearly, a large tank built evidently above ground but
now gone, fed, [ suspect, by the aforesaid stream, just south of Lee Mount on the cor-
ner of two ruads, a real ready made swimming pool and a temptation in hot weather.

The sugpestion I made years age in The Devon Historian has thus born fruit suc-
cessfully. delayved largely by the facl that Lee Mount was mostly up for sale. The
Devon History Socicty is very grateful to the present owners of Lee Mount, Mr and
Mrs Drayton. for permission to erect the plagque, which they gave with enthusiasm.

{He is ‘Brnic’ Bevin in this piece and not, more respectfully, ‘Ernest’, because that is
how he liked to be addressed).

Other Plaques?

This plaque has been a success in my view and bas aroused interest. My own sug-
gestion is that this provides an opportunity to discuss pussible sther plaques that the
Snciety might erect. The Government recently itsell suggested that Blue Plaques
should be put up where appropriate. Devon County Council derided not to follow that
advice but perhaps we could take this on, eautiously. Both Sidmouth and Tiverton and
Torquay and [ am sure other towns have pul up a number of plagues. but we might
be able to initiate some ideas in rural areas for instance or where no such efforts have
heen made. A pelicy would have to be worked out as to whom or what to commerse-
rate, events as well as people, and there would have to be both a high degree of cer-
tainty about the person or the event and careful ¢o-operation with loeal and nther
societies and councils.

One name springs te mind immediately that is surely a must for this society, that
is that of W.G.HOSKINS, the ‘onlie begetter’ of modern ‘better’ local histery, a past
President of this Society and a native of Exeter, He lived for quite a time at No 2
Lyndhurst Road in Exeter.

Plagues are instantaneously arvesting and educative and add a dimension to the
landscape that I, for one, respond to immediately. Perhaps members of the Society
would like te suggest other names of distinguished men and women whe lived in
Dievon that might be commemorated.

(Pictures by David Thomas)

REVIEWS

{Readers are advised that opinions expressed by reviewers are their own and not
necessarily those of the Editor or of the Devon History Society as a whole)

Devon Thateh, by Jo Cox and John R.i. Thorp. Devon Books 2001, 187 pages plus
glossary and bibliography. Iltustrated. £24.95. ISBN 1 85522 797 5.

Thixz volume makes a major contribution to the available information on the history
and practive of the craft of thatching and although it concentrates nn Devon it contains
much infermation which is relevant to other parts of England. The approach is that of
a historical survey of the craft of thatching divided into chapters describing conditions
at times of particular historical significance and the social and economic backgrounds
during these periods. Although not thal of 2 technical handbock there is no shortage of
itformation on materials and methods. For example, the authers, opening a section
dealing with the pitch of thatched roofs comment thal the high rainfall and humidity
int Devon do not previde ideal conditions for thatch and ineresse the speed at which the
material decays. Norfolk and Suffolk have a kinder climate nevertheless these counties
have fewer thatched roofs than Devonr where the material is to be seen in most of the
rural parts of the county, though less so in the few arcas where local state has been
available from early times. The material hag a very long history in Devon dating from
the fourteenth century, or earlier, to the present day and Devon containg 3983, or about
17 per cent, of the natienal total of thateched buildings of special historic or architec-
tural interest. Dorset is second with 2052,

Thatched roofs in Deven are of u relatively shallow pitch and this slows down the
drainage of water and speeds the decay of the thatch. The reason for this is not clear-
ly understood as the earliest roofs, which date from before 1340, are steeper, with pifch-
es of about 48 degrees. Pitches as steep as 60 degrees cause difficulties for the thateh-
er and the recommended pitch for new thatched roofs is 45 degrees. The character and
quality of the available material has always been determined by the practices and
prosperity of the tarming community, methods of crop growth and threshing being of
primary importance, Although at the present time most work is carried out using
water reed, often imparted, the traditional material in Devon is Combed Straw{some-
times confusingly referred ta as Combed Wheat Reed), from wheat or rye crops and this
gives an appearance which is different from the Crushed Straw (Long Straw), com-
monly used in other parts of Southern England and the Water Reed used in cast
Anglia, The differences between materials and techniques used are well explered in
this book and there are many helpful iflustrations. A major factor is that when a roof
of combeg straw is yenewed or repaived the thatch is seldom stripped back to the roof
timbers but is usnally ‘overcoated’, the old and retten material being cul back only suf-
ficiently to expose sound material to which the new thatch can be fixed. Eaves and ~
verges however are usually completely replaced. Rouofs of water reed are novmally
removed completely and the new material is fixed directly to the roof timbers, The
practice of ‘overcoating’ makes it difficult to date a combed straw roof as it is common
for much earlier material, sometimes even from the medieval periad, to become evident
when this is done.

Successive chapters describe changing practices due to svcial and economic factors
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and are of considerable historic inlerest and a final chapter gives a usefol summacy ol
the current situalion and loolks to the fubuee.

The book is well produced and Hlusteated with many black and white photographs
and 952 coloured plates. It is perhaps disappointing that art paper was not used fir a
haok of this price.

Altagether, this is a volume which will he of great interest on acecount ul both its
intormation on the technigues of thatehing ond the economic and social changes in the
vural scene during the long period under veview. It can be well reenmmendad.

S5, Renoe.

Roman Devon by Malcalm Tadd, ISBN 1-903356-10-5:

The Vikings in Deven by Derek Gore. [SBN 1-903356-11-3;
Elizabethan Devon by Todd Gray. ISIBN 1-003366-12-1;

Devan and the Civil War by Mark Stoyle. {SBN 1.90336566- 13-x.
All The Mint. Press, Fach 96pp., THLIO.

These four little volumes, each of some HLODD words, represent Lthe Airat of the Mint
Presss Coneise Histories of Devgn series, advertised ag being writlen by recogmised
schalars to bring the ‘latest research ond clear understandings of key periods” in
Devan's history to a wider audience fin an casy-to-read format’. This elaim is admirably
Fulfilbed, as is the requirement to present. the topics selecled very conetsely. Allthough
the Mul) apparalus of academic referencing s absent, the buoks are cleavly authorita-
tive, anel each containg detailed suggestions for further reading. The authors of the first
Lwo voluimes, however, have faced problems different. from those of the athers. T'he pri-
mary evidence for Roman Devan is almost ealirely archaeological and fexeept for
[xeter) relatively spavae, and The Vikings 18 necessarity based mainky on a miodicum
of archaeological and place-name dita and on partisan Anglo-Saxoen wrilings. so that
a greal deal of speculnlion and interpretation has been required. Conversely, both orig-
inal evidence and secondary material tor Blizabethan Devon and Preeon and the Cingl
War are almoest embarrassingly extlensive, so that the problem of compression has been
grealer. Yot each volwme deals appropriately with complex issues and periods both sue-
cinetly and readabty,

Given the significance of Roman Exeter and the extent ol archaeological research
Lthere, ibis not surpeising that Maleolm Todd devetes o quarter ol his excellent account
of Boman Deesn to Bxeter's development from legionary foct ress to Roman city, Bul he
alzo provides a lueid outline of the invaston and military vecupation of Deven and its
environs, detailing evidence of camps, forts and fortleis md thele significance for land
communicutions, He presents, too, evidence of settlement in the county, the nalure af
farmiing and Lhe extent of other cconomic activiky, and points to sites which would
merit further archaeologieal investigation,

The Vikings strosses that there s very little il any data supporting the existence aff
permanent Norse occupation or settlement in Devon, Morcover, the evidence velating
ta conturies of sporadic ratds i difficult Lo interpret, and that clearly relating to Devon
alten hard Lo identify. Derek Gore thus quite rightly embraces Lhe Westeountry gener-
ally. While clearly presenting the chronolagy of the main known events, he has chosen
tu sutline the state of Devon belore the Vildags, Lhe (largely indirect) impact of their
vaids on the structure and nuture ol society in Wessex and particularly the role of
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Alfred and his successors. He thus provides a splendidly lacid insight both into Viking
activity and inte aspects of Anglo-Saxon Wessex,

Faced with a plethora of inforaudion on Blizabethan Devon. much of its chronnlogi-
eal outline well known, Todd Gray, has preleveed a topieal approach, In a serivs of
admirably informative and clearly wrilten seations he covers Lhe social styucture of the
counly, its main industries, marilime Uade and fshing, the exploits of the ‘sea dogs’
against Spain, the part played by Devon men w exploration and colonisation, nnd,
bricfly, religion. Despite the fact that Klizabeth never visited Devon, Dr Gray slresses
that it was af special interest and importance to her And as well as serving the queen,
Devon's maritime activities enriched the county and laid the basis tor further trading
snd eolonial enterprise. Wallace MacCallvey’s Bxefer; 1580 1560 {1858) shoald be added
Lo the Turther Reading list in anv new edition.

"The Bnglish Civil War was the most devastating episode in Devon's vecorded histo-
ry’ {p.7), the first sentence of Devon and the Civil War may be quericd by thoso of us
who experienced the Plymouih biitz, hut the subsequent analysis of the protracted,
bratal and bloody war of three cenluries before the Nazis sugpests that this verdiet
may well be correct. Alveady the author of the best modern account ot the impagt, of Lhe
Civil War on Devon, Mark Stoyle presents a coneise chronalogieal deseription of a con-
flict which was part uf the national struggte but alsa fought as 1 separate loead war, he
follows this by treatment of the war's impact sequeatiadly oo men, on women, and on
children in Deven, In this he embraces the detrimoental efteet on the local ceonomy, the
slawghter of troops om both sides and the devistation of towns and destraction of build-
ings of all sorts, And he provides a vivid piclure of the suttering of the thousands of
Devoninus made homeless, maimed, widowed and erphaned. This vividly told story bas
none of Lhe acidity often associated with condensed aceounts. It is diffieult 1o see how
it could have been helter devised or written,

The Mint Press is to be congratulaled on this new initiative, Iopefuily, further val
umes of the same high quality will foilow,

WIS Steplhens

West Britons: Cornish identities and the early modern British state by Mark
Stovie. University of Bxetor Press 2002, xxvi + 262pp. Mlustrated. 240.00 SBN 0
L9589 687 0.

Thi: core of this admirable compilation (of elght essays - five previousty published) Hes
in its treatment of Cornwall i the Civil War and its aftermath, and the volume, Lhere-
fore, inviles some comparison with Mary Coale'’s Cornceall in the Grear Cioil War and
Indervegrem, Hig2- 1660 119334 Stovle’s book lacks the detail of Coptes morve exhans-
tive monogeaph aned complements rather than replaces i1, reviewing Cornish develop-
ment in the early modern period against a backdrop of decades of post-Coate histori-
-al research on the Civil War, and in the eontext of current interest in ethnicity and in
British rather than merely Bnglish history. Conte cortainly vemarked on Cornish pan-
ticularism. She noted the ‘passionate allachent of the Cornish people to their swn
county, ard Hheir orn raee’, Lheir Tocal patriotism, horn of raciad difference’ tmy italics),
angl that their ‘appavent Royalism wns often samoething more primitive’ (Coate, 1963
edn., 180, 351}, But she did not pursue the theme in depth. Stoyle tnvestigates iL more
thovoughty, in the process registering o wgnificant addition to the cirrent historical
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debate about Britishness in which Cornwall has hitherto been largely ignored.

Stoyle’s thesis posits Cornish participation in the rebellions of the late fifteenth and
the sixteenth centuries and the part Cornwall played in the Civil War as a continuum
rather than the isolated events depicted by other historians. Throughout the period
Cornishmen'’s religious and political attitudes were coloured by their belief in being a
racially different and particular people, distinet from the English who threatened their
cultural identity, With varying degrees of approval {or more often disapproval} the
English, too, ackfiowledged Cornish singularity.

Cornish royalists, Stoyle argues, saw the Civil War as a ‘quasi-national struggle’
between Cornwall and England. Their support for the King stemmed from their belief
that hasic elements of Cornish autonomy {particularly the Duchy and the Stannaries)
and the Established Church (allegedly seen as built on Celtic Christian foundations)
were bound up with the fortunes of the Crewn. The King was believed te be sympa-
thetic to his Celtic subjects, while Parliament was seen as a threatening party of
Englishness and radical religion. But Cornish royalism was limited, The Cornish,
unlike other royalists, fought as a people in entirely Cornish regiments under Cornish
officers and in defence of Cornwall and its identity as much as or perhaps more than
for the general cause. Tensions with other royalist troops and commanders increased
during the war, and when the defeat of the King loomed large the Cornish general,
Richard Grenville, even proposed (a}bett unsuccessfully) a separate peace for Cornwall
invelving establishment of the Duchy as i semi-independent state. And Cornish par-
ticipation in the royalist rising of 1845, cenired in the Cornish-speaking west of the
county, may perhaps have had an ethnic ‘undertow’. Following the Restoration, howev-
er, the earlier English view of the Cornish as innately rebellius barbarians was trans-
formed. English royahist frustration with Cornwall’s limited loyalty in the Civil War
gave way to general approval of its war revord, with Cornishmen hailed as the loyalist
of the Crown’s subjects.

The foregoing survey has necessarily been simplified. omitting consideration of
many of the divers issues pursued in this well-researched volume, Witheut doubt, how-
ever, the book’s main theme, the significance of Cornish ethnicity in the turbulent
events of early modern Britain {though in places based vn conclusions dreawn from
accumulations of largely inferential evidence) is generally both plausilile and convine-
ing. In recent years historians have strissed the importance of Anglo-Scottish and
Anglo-Trish (and, less strongly, Anglo-Welsh) differences in this perind but have treat-
ed Cornwall as but another English county and ignored tensions between it and its
Anglo-Saxon netghbour. Mark Stoyle has rectified this situation and in the process
made & major contribulion both to the history of Carnwall and the south-west and
more generally Lo our understanding of the early modern period and in particular what
musl now be regarded as the Britigh Civil War. And the baok is as enjoyahle to read as
it is scholarly.

W.B. Stephens

The Story of Weare Giffard. Ed. Keith Hughes. A Millennium book written by the
Community, 2001, Printed hy Torrilitho, Great Torvington. 240pp. 203 phatographs, 8
plans and maps. £10, A4 soft hack. No [SBN.

Any book about a Deven village that can sell 900 copies within a year must command
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attention. This velume in A4 size paper wilh a font size of 12 points is easily readable
and commences with an early history that includes an ancient history, the origin of the
name Weare Giffard, eventz of the Civil War and the unsettled times from 1646 to
1800,

The chapter on peeple of the parish gives a rare insight into life in this cural com-
munity from the nineteenth centiury enwards through two great wars to modern times.
There iz & chapter on the natural history of the area und another on the more impor-
tant buildings. [n Communications we read of the highways und hyways, the vailway,
road names and the financing of Halfpenny bLridge, though not of ity designer or
builder. Agrieuiture, horticulture, industries and education are followed by notes on the
distinguished personalities, Robert Smith, the Rolles and the Clintons, the Giffards
and the Fortescues, Sheila Hutehinson and John Brinsmead.

The wealth of coloured photographs, not only aerial views hut of houses, the poster
of 109 wild flowers and trees found within the parish, and groups of people, backed up
by black and white phatographs, adorn nearly every page. The map work is well exe-
cuted, particularly the copy of the 1804 Qrdnance Survey, which is so much clearer
than the shaded original. Even the worst crimes in Weare Giffard are described before
the appendices containing charts and tables with details of population from 1861 to
1981, workers an the Rolle Canal, facts and figures relating to Weare Giffard and tithe
maps of 1339. This book is an extraordinary example of the teamwark of twenty writ-
ers with a large support staff and the commitment of a hundred eacly subscribers
whose enthusiasm has produced a work that once apened is difficult to put to one side.
A bibliography for the serious student would be helpful but the wealth of illustrations
makes this a delightful record.

A.B. Geprye

Devon Building: An introduction to loeal traditions Ed. Peter Beacham. Devon
Books. Third edition 2001. 176pp £19.95 ISBN 1 85522 808 4

This book was first published in 1990, a second edition came out in 1895, and last vear
a third edition, fully revised, and with an extra chapter, became available at the same
price as the first edition. The book is clearly filling a need, but its steceess owes noth-
ing to exposure in these pages as it has not been reviewed previously in The Devon
Historian,

Peter Beacham is the editor, and he has pulled the other contributors together to pro-
duce a well-balunced, easily-understood but erudite volume which concentrates, right-
Ly, on the more humble buildings of the county. The term ‘vernacular’ tends to be nsed
in respect of rural houses, but there is no reason why it should be conlined to the coun-
tryside, and in Deven Building the vernacular town houses get their due in two chap-
ters.

Peter Beacham’s fellow expert collaborators are Peter Child, Michael Laithwaite,
John Thorp and Jo Cox. The last-named is a colleague of John Thorp and en-author
with him of the new final 1i-page chapter titled ‘Recent Research Projects in Devon'.
This deals with the Devon Dendrochronology Project, Devon Thatch and Traditional
Slate Roofs.

Dendrochronology measures tree-ring sequences by drilling inte carefully seleeted
timbers to produce pencil-sized cores which can be examined in the laboratory.
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Structurad material ean thus be dated.

A photograph shows a dust-masked technivian from the University of Sheffield sam-
pling the roof timhers of a roof at Catfeomnbe, Down 8t Mary. (This appears Lo be one of
the farms Ernest Bevin worked at while he lived at Copplestone as a youngster. See
The Devon Historian no 42, page 22, also this issue.)

The book is splendidly illustrated with numerous photopraphs, many of them in
calour, and helpful eut-nway deawings, plans and maps. There s o mosL useful bibliog-
raphy, and the contributors’ gualificationg are outlined. The buok is excetlent value at
1995, and il is worth beaving in mind that even with sisteen extra pages the price
remaing Lhe same as eleven years ago.

Brian Le Messurier

Dartimoor Crosses hy Bill Harrison. Published by Devon Books in assoctalion with
Halsgrove 2001, 311 pages profusely illustrated. Price £24.95, ISBN 1 85522 791 6.

My first reaction on handling this book was: how am I Lo pack this into my haversack
to use it as a field guide? The answer was, wilth toe much diffiealty, so 1 have to make
nutes to carry in my pocket, and [ suspect thal others who wish to inspeet the crosses
wn site will have to do likewise,

The hook has been carefully compiled, possibly too cavefully. An carly chapler, ‘The
Evolution of the Cross', althouph of general inferest, is nat entirely relevant to Lhe
studly ol maoorland erosses, bud his shorl history of 'Tartmoor Crosses’ is certainly help-
ful Lo the average walker who is bound Lo show somp interest in the crosses that may
be encounterad. or searched for, on the moor or in conlignous villages or small towns.

The erosses are ientified in seven areas which ave clearly shown o 2 general map
and thereafter by maps ot the beginning of sach section. The area index names the 132
erosses deseribed 10 each of the seven arens which are then easily located within the
texl. Bach eross 1s carelully described with the measurement of its height and width;
ity 08 veference and precise delwils of its loeation. Preguently aceompinying tha
deseription af the crogses are interesting suippets of moorland history and aneedotes.
One such entertaining example is the stocy about Pixies” Cross. The lost coross
deseribed is the Mary Tavy eross which is o be found in the village churchyard where
Willizm Crossing is burted. Mr Harrison suggests that it would be o suitable recogoi-
tien of ‘the faiher of Darlmom? if a cross were erected i his memory ‘on a lonely height
on the open moor sucrounded by Lors within sight of a fust-Aowing river”

The previeus unscen photographs from the Taylor, Thompson and Burnavd archives
will be of particular interest ta dedicated moormen,

That the late E.N. Masson Phillips, who is probably the foremost authority on the
subject of stone crosses, shonld have written a foreword is an honour indeed, and his
generous appreciation of the late Bill Harrison's enthusiasm can be regarded as a fit-
ting tribute to Mr Flarrizon's contribution to Dartimonor Hterature. Mr Harrison himasel?
was explicit in vecognising the expertise and authorily ol those who had wrillen on the
subject before him.

A, Roberison

36

Victorian Wild Flowers of Devon. Unknown artist and cdited by Todd Gray. The
Mint Press 2001 Main text pages and illustrations 138, £20.00, ISBN 1-903356-08.1.

A voung lady of good fanuly in Victorian times, free of responsibilities, was cneotraged
i use her leisure usefully - and usually pleasurably - by developing an interest in nnt-
ural hi-‘*tm‘y, muste or the arts, sometimoes revealing dan extraordinary iatent fvr her
chosen subjeel. BoLany provided a reason to walk with a parpose and to educale one-
selfin o socinlly sceeptable way Such a person perhaps fand this must necossarity bo
conjecture) was the artist who painted the wateveolours of the wild Aowers found main-
ly in the BExmouth avens nearly 153 years ago which forms the basis af the hook,

There is little supporting text bul part of the interest lies in the mystery of the iden-
tity of Lhe artist. Todd Gray has investigated this from the very fow avaituble clues,
chief of these being the inseription un the box in which the oripinal paintings were
stoved, that is.S M A from A L H . 1L would be sale Lo assume that A L H lived in the
Lixmuuth area as the majority of plants painted were from that pait of the county, but
Lhat she (for surely it is she’) also travelled as far away as Kent and Surrey. Despite
Dr Gray's rescarches, which lead him to the voters' list tor Exmouth and the census
records fov the period where many unlikely candidotes were xwiltly eliminated, no con-
clusive evidenco was found.

Althaugh the mystery of Lthe identity of the artist adds intrigue to the book, it is the
watercolours Lhemselves that give delight. Comparison with plant illustrations repro-
duced by modern {echmnlugy eapable of almost 100 pereent aceuragy in calonr and form
ol a particulmr plant is unfhie In place of this precision the emphasis hoere s on the
plants’ characteristic form. It may be that some of the drawings wers not done in the
field, but Lhe plants uprooled (no crime then), (aken home and painted at Teiswree. Phis
might account for some of the colours not being quite true: the yellows particularly lack
vitulity and the whites do not sparkle. But this minor guibble may possibly be deteri-
srabion due to ageing,

Urban spread and changing agricultural practices have coniributed to the decline of
many lovmerly common species of wild flosers, and this little hook might provide doe-
wmentary evidence of this, [t is interesting to speculate hovw many of Lhe species found
n a particudar habitat 150 years ago vemain in any numbers there today and Lo antie-
ipate how the numbers might be changed 150 years henee. Apart feam this histovical
perspective the book 1bselfl s o gentle chave that intrigues and enchants,

MEL Beherisan

Christmas in Devon: Stories of Romance; Stovies of Excter; Ghost Stories and
Stovies ‘round a Dartmoor Hearth'. By Todd Chrav. The Mint Press, 2001, L1499
each. ISPN {-904456-17-2; -18-0; -20-9 aund -20-2.

Betwern them these four books contain, as well as introductions, Lwenty-two short sto-
ries selected by 1 Gray from newspapers and periodicals published duriny the second
half of Lhe nineteenth century. As swrgested by the titles, each book has o different
theme associated with Christaas, Most of Dr Gray's selections are o The Devon
Weekly Times, which published lacally written stories in its 1ast edition hefore
Clristmas, All tended to reflect the: Viclurian concept of the spirit of Christmas - con-
viviud, comfortable, with dashes of sadness but with no malice. Although the plots e
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predictable some tinish wilh o Lwist, invariably inoffensive as, tor exaniple, with Trig's
story of Mrs Armituge al the end of the first volume. Most of Lhe _wt‘it(:t'.‘.e intl‘()(lllct!(l.ﬂ
degree of Tocal topography and history inte their tales that Dr Gray suggests in hl‘.‘_-;
introduction has resulted in some misleading place names and illustrates an aneeli-
able understanding of lueal history. Few of the writers were well known: Tiekler’ WGt
regularly tar The Devnn Weekly Tinies, tive of his narratives heing reproduced in the
volumes, and Dr Gray sugpests that he wis probably on the staff of the puper.

These baoks are small: the four would fit easily into & Christmas stocking and leave
space for the averige Jaffa orange and other goodies, At Lhe same time the print is nor-
izl size and ne strain on the eyes.

DELB Thomuas

NOTICES AND CONTRIBUTIONS

Change of address, Wo have heen usked hy the publishers Confraternity of St
Juunes to note Lhat their address is nwat now that given in the review of William Liy:
an Buglish Pilgrim to Compostetle published in DH 64. The correct acddress is as fol-
lows: 27 Blackfriavs Boad, London, SE1 8NY.

Blackawton and Strete History (BASH) Group are now up and running with a
constitution, officers and achievable aims, The two pavishes are now producing a
‘modest’ history hooklet. For further information contact the secretary, Me Al
Denham, # Town Farm Cotlages, Blackawton, near Totnes TQ8 78U, tel 01513
T12595.

‘Moor Memaories'. an oral history project sel up hy the Dartmoor Nutional Park
Autharity Lo reeort the stovies of everyday lile of people an Dartmoor during the twen-
Lieth ventury, was taunched in UJuly A listening post’ has been eslablished at the
Fligh Moot Visitar Centre at Princetown where visilors can hewr an CD a compilation
of the memories callected so far. Conducted professionally by Becky Newell, the inter
views are of o high standard and offer reconmended listening,

Golden Jubilee Not only does Her Majesty the Queen eelebrate her Golden Jubilee
this year, it is also 50 ‘\-'vu'l's since Lhe Deven Record Office was ©unded, althongh the
colloction and preservation of Devon's written hevitage dates (rom earlier. The DRO
reports that individual visits in the year 2001-2002 were O por cent down un the pre-
vious year. Neveriheless. individual visils Lo the Bxeter office numbered 10,087, and
La Bzu"nstaple 7 202, reparations are proceeding for the move to new premises ab
Suwton, provisionally planned [or Lhe year 2004
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DHIS member Mr Charles Stewart, of Ashburton writes:

‘Have you ever wondvred why the A38 up the hill from Riverford Bridge tka Huod
Bridge) suddenly turns lelt at the lower gates of Hood Manor and similarly turns
right at the higher gates when descending from Huxham's Cross?

‘Originally the road passed close o the windows of the manor house and the Lthen
owner mentioned to my grandfather, WR. Coulton of Dean Court near Buckfastleigh,
that he was fed up with the drivers of horse drawn curriages and carts heing able to
stare into his rooms ns Lthey passed by; this was before the Totnes-Ashbuvton raitway
was buill in 1872 and the products of Ashburton ond Buckfastieigh woollen mills. the
farms, the tin mines ete were taken to Totnes station and the coal and other imporls
to the area were all carted post Lhe windows of Hood Manoer.

WRC, o tarmer, landowner, quarry owner, lime and corn merchant, suggesied the
road shoulil be diverted through the fickd in frant of the house and this wus done much
Lo the surprise of the road surveyor who peviadically would take the train rom Exeter,
stay ab the Seven Stars al Totnes, hire a horse and travel the roads and lanes on his
mspections,

1 understand that after a dimner at Hood Manm and the consumption of some
clurel and the larger portion ol o barvel of port the matter of the road diversion was
clogad.

Editor’s note -~ Comparison of the Fiest Edition OF map and one of laler date clear-
lv shows the variation in the road alignment oL this poind. The county survever may
hiave been Thomas Whitnker who succeeded James Groen in 1842 and had charge of
Devon's bridges until his retivement in 1RG5,

Our spectalist on Devon roads, A, Brian George, writes: “The Epiphany Quarter
Seasions minutes of 12 January 1813 contained an item “For vepairing road over
Emmetl's bridge, £17-19-0" (Emmett’s was an carlive name for Hood ov Riverford
Bridge) The Guarter Sessions maintained the roadway over their bridges for 100
yards on ¢ither approach, so by that date Emmett’s must have been a county bridyre,
and while it did not appear in the 1809 review by James Green it did appear in the
1831 List. Bt looks very much ke o James Green beidge, so T bave always presumed
that Green built it avound LBLO/TT to the instraction of the Buekfastleigh or Totnes
Turnpike, was paid for doing so and therefore recommended it to the §8 as a Counly
Buridge. The bridge is not shown on the 1809 Ordaance Survey, but it does xeem there
wiight Bave been a lord ot this site. The diversion of o road away from a home was a
vond iden in those days. In Volume 57 of The Devon Historian, page 24 in the fifth
paragraph, I noted Siv Thomas Acland did much the same, though he took the road
much farther away”

And further: 'l noted that in Volume 36 of The Dcvoen Historian in an article on the
Totnes North End Turnpike ‘U'rust, page 25, M.C. Lowe has written “The Act of 1309
amalgamated the Tolnes Narth End Trust with the Ashburton Truast . to Toem the
Ashburten and Totnes Consolidated Turnpike Trust” Preswmably the amalgamation
would have provided the necessary funds to build Emmett's bridge and improve the
road from ‘Totnes Lo Buckfastleigh
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